
Highways Committee

Date Monday 20 November 2017
Time 11.00 a.m.
Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence
  

2. Substitute Members  

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 24 July 2017  (Pages 3 - 8)

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

5. C10a Leadgate Road, Leadgate - 40mph Speed Limit - Report of 
Corporate Director, Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 9 - 18)

6. Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane) - Objection to Experimental 
Traffic Regulation Order to prohibit 4WD vehicles - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 19 - 94)

7. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
10 November 2017

To: The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor C Kay (Chairman)
Councillor S Morrison (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, G Bleasdale, J Chaplow, S Dunn, 
A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, O Milburn, P Oliver, 
R Ormerod, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, 
A Simpson, J Turnbull and M Wilson

Contact: Michael Turnbull Tel: 03000 269 714



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Highways Committee held in Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham on 
Monday 24 July 2017 at 9.30 a.m.

Present:

Councillor C Kay in the Chair

Members of the Committee:
Councillors D Bell, H Bennett, S Dunn, A Gardner, K Hopper, S Hugill, K Liddell, 
M McGaun, O Milburn, P Sexton, J Shuttleworth, J Turnbull and M Wilson.

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors G Bleasdale, S Morrison, R Ormerod 
and J Rowlandson.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members.

3 Declarations of interest 

The Chairman of the Committee, Councillor Kay declared an interest in the matter under 
consideration as he was a volunteer at Kynren. The Councillor advised that he would leave 
the meeting after he had spoken on the proposals as the local Member of the adjoining ward 
which was affected by the Experimental Traffic Regulation Order.

Councillor Kay retired from the Chair and nominations were sought for a Chair for the 
meeting.
 
Resolved:
That Councillor J Turnbull be elected as Chairman. 

4 Various Road, Bishop Auckland (Eleven Arches) - Traffic Management Order 
2017

The Committee considered a joint report of the Corporate Director for Regeneration and 
Local Services and the Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration which asked Members 
to make a decision in principle on the proposed Eleven Arches Traffic Management 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO), and to consider objections made during the 
consultation period (for copy see file of Minutes).

Members received a presentation by the Strategic Traffic Manager which gave details of the 
key areas on the highway network that were affected by the ETRO which had been 
introduced in accordance with the Traffic Management Plan to maintain road safety and 
minimise congestion during the Kynren events. The ETRO allowed the Council to monitor 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



and review the effects of the restriction over a period of time and during the six month 
consultation period three objections had been received, details of which were included in 
the report.  Members had been provided a copy of each of the objections received.
 
Councillor J Allen, local Member was unable to attend the meeting but had provided written 
representations which were read out by the Clerk as follows:-

‘As the local ward member for Bishop Auckland Town I would like to object to two of the 
proposals contained within the report, these being proposals to restrict access to Public 
Right of Way 81, 85 and 86 and around the Unclassified Road 34.4.

With regard to Public Rights of Way 81, 85 and 86 - I and the local MP have received 
numerous complaints about a variety of interventions that have attempted to restrict public 
access to the Toronto to Brandon walkway, such as erecting barriers and misleading signs, 
and removing tourist signs.

I held a site meeting with local residents and the Strategic Traffic Manager on 4 May 2017 
where a number of issues were raised, and these were formally shared following this 
meeting. As far as I am aware the issue regarding access is ongoing and certainly not 
resolved.

Although I am a Kynren volunteer I am first and foremost a Councillor and as such I have to 
act in the best interests of the people who voted for me and for the town I represent.

Having visited this particular site on a number of occasions I was staggered by the amount 
of people and diverse users of this popular pathway, from dog walkers, cyclists, disabled 
motorised scooters, joggers, walkers and running clubs. There is no doubt it is a very popular 
and well used local amenity which has been enjoyed by local residents and visiting tourists 
for many years. 

With regard to proposed closure times, I am aware that visitors are choosing to attend 
Kynren much later this year as they have come to realise that once on site there is little to 
do, places to sit or shelter from if the weather is inclement. The Tribune is open 2 hours 
before the start of the show which are scheduled to take place between 9:30pm early season 
to 8:00pm late season. Therefore, visitors appear to be either coming later or staying in the 
town longer, which I am obviously keen to encourage.  

This was always the stated intention of Eleven Arches from the outset, the attraction Kynren 
was very much about creating opportunities to enable the towns businesses to benefit from 
the increased footfall and spending power of visitors which would have a positive impact on 
the local economy and regeneration of the town.

I would therefore like to object to the proposals to close this valuable local asset between 
4:00pm and midnight between the show dates of July and September when the walkway is 
mostly likely to be used given the milder climate and lighter nights.

I believe these proposals are prohibitive and certainly not proportionate given the limited 
time visitors themselves can access the show. I would like to see the proposed closure 
increase from 4:00pm until 6:00pm, and that these permissions are temporary not 

Page 4



permanent so that we can determine the appropriateness of these restrictions as and when 
the number of shows increase and visitor movement patterns become more apparent. 

As to the proposals to permanently close the Unclassified Road 34.4 between 18:00 and 
12:00am from the junction at the Market Place and the junction with Unclassified Road 34.5 
Newfield. Unlike the above, I have not had the same number of complaints from local 
residents. However, since I received correspondence from an objector and looked into the 
matter further I feel that the proposals to permanently close the road between 18:00 and 
12:00am is disproportionate and appear excessive given that the actual show does not start 
until 9:30pm at the latest and 8:00pm at the earliest, the limited amount of non-residential 
traffic choosing to use this road and the fact that residents are to be permitted to use the 
proposed road during the closure times.

I am also concerned about the free movement of non-residents wishing to visit local 
residents during the proposed road closure times. Would they be granted the same access? 
Would access be granted for instance for friends and family visiting residents or would they 
have to travel 4.2 miles extra or pay for taxis to take them back via the alternative route?

Anyone who has been in the Tribune would testify before the show start times that no driver 
would be distracted by the show or associated fireworks, nor would headlights interfere with 
the show production. 

Therefore I would like to object to the proposal to permanently close this road between the 
suggested times and between associated junctions. I believe some of the reasons for 
closure are not relevant.

For instance, the integrity of the event does not fall within relevant legislation and that the 
proposed closure times are not proportionate and appear to be excessive as they restrict 
the free movements of local residents who will be prevented from going about their business 
in a normal fashion during the summer months without first having to have a conversation 
with an official as to whether or not they are allowed access to or from their properties.

As with the previous objection I believe these proposals are prohibitive and certainly not 
proportionate. I would like to see the proposed closure increase from 4:00pm until 7:00pm 
and reduced from 12:00am until 11.30pm, and that these permissions are temporary not 
permanent so that we can determine the appropriateness of these restrictions as and when 
the number of shows increase and visitor and resident movement patterns become more 
apparent.’

Councillor Kay was invited to address the Committee. He stated that although not in his 
division the road closure would affect the amenity of residents in his ward. The Member 
concurred with the views of Councillor Allen that the proposed closure of Unclassified Road 
34.4 was excessive given the start times of 9.30pm for the shows early in the season and 
8.00pm in September. The road was a useful route for the residents of Newfield to travel 
into the town. Vehicle flow might be small from the village but it was necessary. No road 
closure would be preferred but he asked the Committee to consider reducing the closure 
times if this was not considered to be viable. He also asked that the restrictions be 
temporary.

Page 5



Councillor Kay was aware of the resident of a property on the opposite side of the River 
Wear who switched on all his house lights during the event and he could not see how car 
headlights would be a distraction. There were no road closures during the dress rehearsals 
and this had not caused any problems.

The Member also expressed concern with regard to the closure of Public Right of Way 81 
where it crossed the old railway path. The railway path was well-used and its closure was 
detrimental to the amenity of users of the path. 

At this point Councillor Kay left the meeting.

Mr Inskipp, objector was invited to address the Committee and stated that his objections 
related to the closure of the public rights of way. He agreed strongly with the views of both 
Councillors Allen and Kay, that the timing of the closures was wrong. He also considered 
that at the end of the closure period the paths should be re-opened promptly, which in his 
own personal experience had not occurred on two occasions, with the routes still closed at 
9.30am the following morning.

Mr Northend, objector was invited to address the Committee. He agreed with the views of 
the Councillors and made the point that when the event started last year residents of 
Newfield had not been consulted on the road closure. He believed that it was an 
experimental traffic order because there was not a Traffic Management Plan in place. 
Unclassified Road 34.4 was an access route into the village and he personally used the road 
to walk back from the local pub; using an alternative route would cost £15-£20 by taxi. Local 
people should not be hindered from using the road. Drivers would not be distracted by the 
show or the fireworks as Kynren was not visible from the road, and there had been no 
problems during dress rehearsals.                          

The Strategic Traffic Manager responded to the issues raised. The Councillors had asked 
that the restrictions be not made permanent but this was not an option for consideration by 
the Committee as it was not possible to make a temporary Traffic Management Order. With 
regard to the comments made on the site visit about the impact on the railway path, he 
accepted that this route was very popular but it was not a Public Right of Way, and therefore 
not subject to an Order. The decision with regard to restricting its use was at the discretion 
of DCC as landowner.  

The timing of the footpath closures was considered to be valid in view of the volume of 
visitors, and to allow for staff who needed to be on-site in time for the arrival of the general 
public. Mr Inskipp had made a valid point that the footpaths should be re-opened as soon 
as the closure period ended, as this constituted an illegal obstruction of a Public Right of 
Way. 

The Strategic Traffic Manager then addressed the objections of Mr Northend regarding the 
closure of Unclassified Road 34.4. The Committee was informed that residents who lived 
immediately next to the road had not objected to the closure. In terms of highway safety the 
Highways Authority considered that there was merit in closing the road as members of the 
public may use the route to watch the fireworks. However the Strategic Traffic Manager 
acknowledged that the timing of the closure could be amended to more closely reflect the 
show times.

Page 6



Members considered the objections to the Order. Councillor Shuttleworth welcomed the 
economic benefits of Kynren but when local Members and residents had expressed 
concerns the Committee should give consideration to reducing the timings of the footpath 
closures and to the closure of Unclassified Road 34.4. 

Councillor Milburn was of the view that the proposed timings were excessive. She accepted 
that there would be a lot of people on site but that volunteers would be familiar with what 
they needed to do. 

Councillor Dunn stated that the Plan was a credit to the company. He had experienced the 
road closures personally and delays had been kept to a minimum. With regard to the Public 
Rights of Way, he agreed with the closure of PROW 86, and the closure of PROW 81 was 
wholly reasonable; it was not a significant diversion and was a means of keeping pedestrians 
safely away from traffic. However there would be no need to close PROW 81 where it 
crossed the railway path if there was clear signage. He also considered that it was not 
necessary to close the section of PROW 85 between car parks A and B, given the number 
of people using it. The Strategic Traffic Manager explained that only a short section of 
PROW 85 was closed from the junction to the railway path, where there were vehicles.

Councillor Dunn continued that he agreed with the Officers that from a safety point of view 
Unclassified Road 34.4 should be closed but that it should be for a much reduced time.

Following a question from Councillor Hopper, the Strategic Traffic Manager stated that if 
there were no closures people would be able to access the site at any time and the 
movement of 1000 volunteers on and off the site was a challenge. The volunteers were 
expected to be on site from around 4:00pm and visitors could be expected to arrive around 
an hour before the start of the show. The site was fairly dark, people were visiting the show 
who were not familiar with the area, and it was also very busy with cars and coaches. The 
closures helped to manage this.

Councillor Sexton made the point that there was no vehicle/pedestrian conflict during the 
show and residents could therefore use the Public Rights of Way during this period. The 
unclassified road 34.4 was a little used route and there was therefore no reason to close it 
at all. 

The Member was informed that it would not be feasible to open and close the barriers to 
allow the PROWs to be used during the event, and that the key concern for objectors was 
the closure times. 

Councillor Sexton asked if DCC staff were responsible for physically opening and closing 
the routes and was advised that this was undertaken by the Traffic Management Company 
who were on site at all times throughout the event.

Councillor Milburn sought clarification that if Kynren ceased the Order would no longer be in 
force and the Strategic Traffic Manager confirmed that this was the case. If another 
enterprise took over the site, it would be subject to its own Traffic Management Plan.

The point was made by Councillor McGaun that the purpose of the Order was to address 
health and safety concerns but he noted that the road closure was not in place during the 
dress rehearsals which were held during the darker nights. It had been said that the fireworks 

Page 7



caused a distraction but he considered that a greater distraction for drivers was not knowing 
that the event was taking place.  Closing the road at 4:00pm when the event did not start 
until much later was disproportionate. He was minded to agree with the local members and 
local residents who knew the area well.

Councillor Hopper reiterated the earlier point that 1000 volunteers were expected to be on 
site from around 4:00pm and visitors were likely to arrive around an hour before the show.

Following consideration of the objections to the Order Councillor Dunn moved and Councillor 
Milburn seconded that PROWs 81, 85 and 86 be closed from 18:00 to midnight.

Councillor Dunn also moved that unclassified road 34.4 be closed from 19:00 to 11.30pm. 
Councillor Hugill seconded the motion.            

Councillor Sexton however was of the view that there was no reason to prohibit vehicles 
from using Unclassified Road 34.4 and moved that the road closure be removed from the 
Order. This was seconded by Councillor McGaun.

Upon votes being taken on the motions it was Resolved:

That the Committee recommends to the Director of Regeneration and Local Services who 
will make the decision in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation,  that the 
Various Roads, Bishop Auckland (Eleven Arches) Traffic Management Order be endorsed, 
subject to the following amendments:-

 The parts of Public Rights of Way 81, 85 and 86 that are within the site 
boundary be closed between 18:00 and midnight.

 The road closure in respect of Unclassified Road 34.4 be removed from the 
Order.

  

Page 8



Highways Committee

20 November 2017

C10a Leadgate Road, Leadgate
40mph Speed Limit

Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director Regeneration and 
Local Services
Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships

Purpose of the Report
1 To consider representations and objections received in respect of a proposed 

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to effect changes to speed limits on the C10a 
western approach to Leadgate and to make a recommendation to the 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services to guide the exercise 
of his delegated powers as to whether such TRO should be made.

Background
2 The C10a from the Villa Real roundabout at the intersection of Leadgate and 

Consett bypasses, was a narrow road linking the A691/A692 to the settlement 
of Leadgate.  Part way along the road it passed over a narrow weak bridge 
crossing a disused railway line forming what is now part of the Coast to Coast 
(C2C) cycle route.  The road was subject to a 30mph speed limit by virtue of it 
having a system of street lights.

3 The former 30mph speed limit was self-evident and self-enforcing due to the 
overall road layout and traffic signals which were operational over the bridge 
deck. The bridge was also subject of a weak bridge weight restriction.

4 Due to the deteriorating condition of the bridge, it was necessary to demolish 
the bridge and the road was subsequently regraded and realigned to remove 
the two tight bends which were either side of the bridge.  As part of the new 
road scheme, a crossing and central island have been provided to facilitate 
users of the C2C cycle route.

5 Since re-opening in December 2016, the Police have received a significant 
number of complaints concerning speeding in the area which has resulted in 
periods of targeted Police enforcement.  The general consensus from the 
Police and motorists is that the new road layout does not warrant the current 
30mph speed limit which is reflected in the 32 complaints received between 
January and August 2017. 

 
6 The 30mph speed limit is not considered to be ‘self-evident’ to drivers on the 

new road layout with its wide carriageway, the removal of the traffic signals 
and the lack of property frontage development.  As such, drivers are confused 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



with the open aspect of the road layout and are proceeding to use the road as 
if it was subject to a higher speed limit.  This higher speed is often carried far 
into the built-up area of Leadgate before the motorist becomes aware of the 
need to adjust their speed to the posted 30mph speed limit being typical of 
residential / commercial built-up areas. 

7 Guidance from the Department for Transport (DfT) suggests that a speed limit 
which lacks credibility results in a significant proportion of motorists ignoring 
the limit and driving at higher speeds, which can often lead to greater risk 
taking.  In addition, the imposition of non-credible lower limits can raise 
residents’ expectations that the speeds of vehicles will be reduced.  However, 
this is seldom achieved in practice. This creates annoyance for both residents 
and motorists and leads to unfair criticism of the police who have to enforce 
the speed limit.

8 Speed surveys have been undertaken by the Council on the road at two 
locations, 1) mid-way along the new road, and 2) near to the zebra crossing 
on Front Street as per the plan in Appendix 3, a summary of which is offered 
below:

Criteria Mid-way 
along new 

road

Near Zebra 
Crossing

Difference 
between the  

Sites

85th percentile speed 37.8mph 29.8mph 8mph

Mean average speed 33.2mph 25.9mph 7.3mph

Percentage of vehicles 
travelling above 30mph

76.97% 20.05% 56.92%

Percentage of vehicles 
travelling above 36mph, 
thus triggering Police 
intervention.

35.33% 4.29% 31.04%

9 In January 2017, Durham Constabulary made representation to the Council 
asking for a review of the speed limit on the new road layout.  They believed 
the current 30mph speed limit was set unrealistically low and was not a 
credible speed limit, leading to a lack of driver compliance and suggesting a 
40mph “buffer zone” should be considered to reduce traffic speeds on the 
new section of road. 

10 A speed limit review has been completed jointly with Durham Constabulary in 
accordance with current best practice guidance produced by the Department 
for Transport (DfT), known as Circular 01/2013 – ‘Setting Local Speed Limits’. 

11 DfT circular 01/2013 states “speed limits should be evidence-led and self-
explaining and seek to reinforce the driver's assessment of what is a safe 
speed to travel”.  Speed limits should encourage self-compliance and should 
be seen by drivers as the maximum rather than a target speed.

Page 10



12 Additionally, DfT Traffic Advisory Leaflet 01/04 advises on best practice for 
achieving lower speed limits in villages.  It suggests a definition of what 
constitutes a village environment, for the purpose of applying a village speed 
limit of 30 mph as having 20 or more houses fronting the road (preferably on 
both sides of the road).  The section of road in question has no frontage 
property development.

13 Research and experience gained at other locations within the County has 
proven that the installation of speed limits which are credible with the 
environment through which the motorist is travelling results in improved driver 
compliance with the speed limit.  

14 The review recommended the new section of road should be subject to the 
implementation of a 40mph speed limit.  A 30mph speed limit would then be 
relocated to encompass the C2C crossing point and the zebra crossing and 
the commercial / residential Front Street area of Leadgate to help improve 
speed limit compliance.

15 The review also took into consideration the current 30mph speed limit around 
the A691 / A692 roundabouts and identified that the speed limit terminal 
points should ideally be relocated to more appropriate and prominent 
locations.  This is in accordance with the DfT guidance and will help to remind 
motorists of the 30mph speed limit on the approaches to what would be the 
built-up areas with direct property frontage.

16 Consideration has been given towards leaving the current speed limit 
arrangement but this would not address the concerns raised by the local 
residents regarding speeding in the area and continued enforcement would 
prove to be resource intensive for the Police.  Additionally, as per the DfT’s 
guidance, and speed survey information, the current arrangement could be 
considered as being unfair to motorists who risk being prosecuted for 
transgressing the 30mph speed limit, when they are clearly perceiving the 
new road layout as being more appropriate for a higher speed limit.

Proposals

17 Following considered discussions with Durham Constabulary, it is proposed to 
increase the speed limit on the new road layout from 30mph to 40mph, and to 
recommence the 30mph speed limit at a point near to the pedestrian refuge 
island which serves to accommodate the C2C cycle route crossing point.  The 
introduction of a 30mph speed limit at this point leading into the settlement of 
Leadgate and being located in advance of both the C2C crossing point and 
the zebra crossing will be less confusing and much more likely to be observed 
by motorists.

18 The proposal for a 40mph speed limit will permit ‘gateway features’ to be 
created upon approaching the C2C crossing point / zebra crossing.  
Additionally, the introduction of a 40mph speed limit allows the Council to 
introduce 40mph “repeater” sign plates along the new section of road as a 
reminder to motorists, where otherwise in 30mph speed limit areas the use of 
repeater signs is not permitted when a system of street lighting is present.

Page 11



19 The Council proposes to make a Traffic Regulation Order to introduce a 
40mph speed limit on the C10a commencing prior to the A691 / A692 
roundabouts, and to introduce a 30mph speed limit to encompass the C2C 
and zebra crossing facilities at the western end of Leadgate, as per the 
plan in Appendix 2. 

20 The proposal would include the construction of a traffic island in advance of 
the C2C crossing where a gateway feature would be created at the transition 
point between the new 40mph speed limit and the new 30mph speed limit 
upon entering Leadgate.  

Consultation

21 On the 7th February 2017 a meeting was held with three of the four elected 
ward members, a representative from Durham Constabulary and Council 
Highway Engineers.  During the meeting various issues where raised by the 
ward members and it was agreed that the issue concerning speeding on the 
C10a was not going to resolve itself and that the consultation exercise to 
amend the speed limit should commence.

22 An informal consultation on the proposals was undertaken between 28th 
March 2017 and 28th April 2017 to gauge the views of the residents. 

23 As part of the consultation exercise, a detailed letter, plans and response 
cards were delivered to 75 properties along the route that would be directly 
affected by the proposal. 

24 A total of 12 responses were received. Of the 12 responses, 5 were in favour 
of the proposals and 7 were against.  A further letter was sent to those who 
were opposed, clarifying the issues that were raised, and none of these 
residents have made any further comments on the proposal and have 
effectively withdrawn their objection.

25 The statutory consultation as part of the legal Traffic Regulation Order making 
process was carried out between 17th August 2017 and the 7th September 
2017, which included advertising the Traffic Regulation Order through the use 
of public notices on-site and in the local press.

26 The statutory consultation resulted in receipt of 1 formal objection (duplicated 
three times from the same household) from a household at Eden Vale Mews.  

27 A further letter of objection from another household at Eden Vale Mews was 
dated and received one week after the advertised closure date and hasn’t 
been accepted as an objection. However, it will be represented within this 
report. 

Objections and Responses

28 Objection 1 

“I feel that an increase of speed limit would encourage drivers to speed along 
the whole section including Front Street as they do at present, also due to 
their been an unmanned zebra crossing at the end of the proposed speed 
limit I think it’s an accident waiting to happen.

Page 12



I feel that the speed limit should be limited to 20mph across the whole section 
from the Villa Real Roundabout and up through the village (Front Street) due 
to the primary school bring in close proximity, and the Sustrans cycle track 
running alongside, when trying to cross the road at the zebra crossing you 
take your life in your own hands as it is hit and miss whether the drivers stop 
in order for you to cross safely, this crossing should be changed to a pelican 
crossing if the proposal goes ahead.” 

(The objector has also provided CCTV footage of a vehicle overtaking another 
vehicle on the zebra crossing).

Response:  When setting speed limits it is important to assess each road on 
its own characterises, and it must give the motorists a clear impression as to 
why that particular speed limit is the most appropriate.

Research undertaken by the DfT and similar projects undertaken by the 
Council has shown that the introduction of credible speed limits can help to 
decrease vehicular speeds within built-up areas.  

It is not considered that the proposal will result in an increase in vehicle 
speeds as 77% of motorists already exceed the 30mph speed limit due to the 
lack of credibility of the existing posted 30mph speed limit.

Introducing a credible speed limit increases the likelihood of greater 
compliance.  Speed surveys undertaken by the Council have shown that the 
majority of motorists are driving on this stretch of the C10a as if it is a 40mph 
speed limit.

The school crossing patrol which operated on the zebra crossing was 
disestablished on the 13th November 2015, and there are currently no plans to 
convert the existing zebra crossing into a light controlled crossing.
The CCTV footage shows a van overtaking a car approaching the zebra 
crossing.  The Highway Code paragraph 191 states ‘you must not overtake 
the moving vehicle near the crossing or the vehicle which has stopped to give 
way to pedestrians’.  Other than enforcement, there is little that can be done 
to prevent acts of careless driving, the provision of the additional traffic island 
may assist along with drivers being less frustrated by the current non-credible 
speed limit.

Durham County Council in February 2016 updated its policy on 20mph speed 
limits in line with the Department for Transport guidance, and mandatory 
20mph speed limits can be summarised as;

 20 mph Speed Limits – These involve 20 mph traffic signs only. They are 
suitable for residential estate roads and side streets, where the nature of 
the road tends to result in naturally low average speeds of less than 24 
mph. 

 20 mph Speed Limit Zone - These involve 20 mph traffic signs plus traffic 
calming measures to ensure that the 20 mph limit is self-enforcing. In 
order that drivers are aware of the zones, traffic signs must be erected at 
every entrance/exit to the zone. 

Page 13



Unfortunately the C10a does not satisfy the above criteria for a mandatory 
20mph speed limit and therefore this suggestion cannot be supported.

29 Representation 1 (objection received after closing date) 

“Since the new road has opened, I have been in contact with the Police on 
regular occasions as drivers cannot stick to the 30mph never mind 40mph.  
To increase the limit would simply invite drivers to increase speed rather than 
cure the problem.  The new road is constantly abused by drivers who have no 
concept of 30mph and this must be sorted out before thinking of altering the 
limit as proposed.
Also, the zebra crossing is a risk as I have been passed twice by vehicles 
going to too fast to stop while using it, the money would be better spent 
providing a pelican crossing with lights, bearing in mind its main use is for the 
school.” 

Response:  The majority of drivers adopt a speed at which they feel 
comfortable based upon the environment in which they are driving.  The DfT 
advises that the speed limit should be set based upon the road environment 
and evidenced data.  The proposal accords with this approach and also 
permits the introduction of a speed limit gateway approaching the C2C 
crossing point.

Research and experience gained at other locations within the County have 
proven that the installation of speed limits which are credible with the 
environment through which the motorist is travelling results in improved driver 
compliance with the speed limit, and this will not necessarily result in vehicular 
speeds increasing.  

The Committee may recall on the 21st November 2014 they endorsed a 
proposal to increase the speed limit from 30mph to 40mph on the A689 at the 
western end of Stanhope, this was also met with initial objections that 
increasing the speed limit would increase speed.  

On the 8th October 2015 the Committee were provided with a progress update 
for the A689 at Stanhope which showed that the ‘Mean Average’ and the ‘85th 
Percentile’ speeds had decreased across all of the survey locations.  Whilst 
accepting this speed limit is now set at 40mph, there has been a significant 
reduction in the percentage of vehicles travelling at speeds which contravene 
the posted speed limit.  The need for Police intervention has also been 
reduced.        

The response to Objection 1 provides comments on the issue of vehicles 
overtaking at the zebra crossing.

Statutory Consultation Representations

30 The statutory consultation as part of the legal Traffic Regulation Order making 
process was carried out between 17th August 2017 and the 7th September 
2017, which included advertising the proposed Traffic Regulation Order 
through the use of public notices on-site and in the local press.

Page 14



31 Durham Constabulary who initially brought this matter to the Council’s 
attention has offered their full support to the speed limit changes. 

Local Member Consultation

32 Local Ward Members Alan Shield, Watts Stelling, Alex Watson, and Owen 
Temple were initially consulted and a joint meeting with the Police held on 7th 
February (Cllr Stelling was unavailable).  During the meeting various issues 
where raised by the Ward Members, but concluded that the issue concerning 
speeding on the C10a was not going to resolve itself and that the consultation 
exercise to amend the speed limits should be undertaken.

The Local Ward Members have since been formally consulted as part of the 
statutory consultation process, to which we have received two objections, and 
one suggestion.

33 Objection 2 – Councillor Owen Temple

“You will remember that I expressed reservations at the initial meeting, and 
similar reservations have since been expressed to me by residents of both 
Villa Real Bungalows and Newbell Court.”

Response:  An informal consultation on the proposals was undertaken with 
the residents of Villa Real Bungalows between 28th March 2017 and 28th April 
2017 to gauge the initial views of the residents.  Newbell Court did not form 
part of the initial consultation of 75 properties as it is not directly affected by 
the proposed speed limit changes.

The informal consultation as per paragraph 23 of this report which included 
the properties of Villa Real Bungalows resulted in 7 responses opposing the 
proposals for various reasons.  The Council wrote back to the respondents 
providing comments on the issues which they were raising resulting in the 
withdrawal of the objections. 

34 Objection 3 – Councillor Alex Watson

“My objection is the 40 mph speed limit that embraces the roundabouts that 
they should be restricted to 30mph speed limit.”

Response:  Across the County and indeed nationally there are many 
roundabouts where the speed limit is in excess of 30mph, a number of which 
are on roads which are subject to the national speed limit, an example of 
roundabouts with a 40mph speed limit can found on the A690/A691 between 
Gilesgate through Durham City past County Hall to the A167 at Sniperley.  
Notwithstanding the speed limit, roundabouts are designed to DfT standards 
and as such they are designed to introduce deflection to the path of a vehicle 
negotiating the roundabout.  This deflection is designed to force drivers to 
reduce their speed to be able to negotiate the feature and thereby negating 
the need for a speed limit.

All motorists should drive to the prevailing conditions and although the 
proposal is to increase the speed limit from 30mph to 40mph, it should not 
result in motorists attempting to negotiate the roundabout at 40mph.  The 

Page 15



change in speed limit does allow the positioning of terminal points at more 
appropriate locations correlating to the road environment, which accords with 
the DfT circular.

35 Suggestion 1 – Councillor Watts Stelling

“My suggestions is to leave the speed limits as they are and to install a 
vehicular activated sign as these slow vehicles down.” 

Response:  The DfT recommends that vehicle activated signs should be 
considered only when there is an accident problem associated with excess 
speed that has not been satisfactorily remedied by other measures such as 
education, encouragement, engineering and enforcement.

The Transport Research Laboratory (TRL) research has shown that the effect 
of vehicular activated signs on vehicle speeds reduces as the ‘novelty’ effect 
wears off and drivers become complacent with their operation.  The research 
has shown that this novelty factor lasted for a three-week period, after which 
time the speeds tendered to increase to pre-existing levels. 

The use of the vehicular activated sign in this scenario is not considered to be 
a long term solution, especially at locations where a speed limit lacks 
credibility due to the road layout.

Recommendations and reasons

36 Under part 3A of the Council’s Constitution, the final decision on whether to 
make a TRO is delegated to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services, having regard guidance form the Committee.

37 Accordingly, it is recommended that, having considered the objections and 
representations, the Committee recommend to the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services that a Traffic Regulation Order be made 
to introduce a 40mph speed limit on the C10a commencing prior to the 
A691 / A692 roundabouts, and to introduce a 30mph speed limit to 
encompass the C2C and zebra crossing facilities at the western end of 
Leadgate, as per the plan in Appendix 2. 

38 The proposal will provide self-evident and self-enforcing speed limits and 
assist in addressing community concerns regarding vehicle speed. 

Background papers

39 Correspondence on Office File.

Contact: Brian Buckley Tel: 03000 268097

Page 16



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – the Villa Real Bridge Re-alignment Project is funding this scheme

Staffing – None

Risk – None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – None

Accommodation – None

Crime and Disorder – None

Human Rights – None

Consultation – As described in the report

Procurement – Works to be delivered by Highway Services

Disability Issues – None

Legal Implications – The measures are being introduced in accordance with the 
current legislation

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Highways Committee 

20 November 2017

Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane)

Objection to Experimental Traffic 
Regulation Order to prohibit 4WD 
vehicles

Report of Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services
Councillor Carl Marshall, Portfolio Holder Economic Regeneration 

1.0 Purpose

1.1      To consider objections to the Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO) and 
make a recommendation to the Corporate Director (when exercising his power to 
make a delegated decision) as to whether to make the ETRO permanent.
 

2.0      Background
 
2.1      Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane) is a byway open to all traffic which is a 

category of highway over which the public have a right of way for all kinds of traffic 
including pedestrians, cyclists, equestrians, motor vehicles and horse drawn 
vehicles, but which is used mainly for the purpose for which footpaths and 
bridleways are used.

 
2.2      The Byway is 4km (2½ miles) long in an upland location, starting from just north of 

Wolsingham heading northwards and uphill to Salters Gate.  It is largely 
unsurfaced, passes across remote country through rough pasture and moorland 
and lies within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  The 
Byway’s location is shown on the plan at Document A.

 
2.3      Large stretches of the Byway are unsurfaced with an impervious high clay content 

overlaid with a shallow soft top soil which creates issues about the route's durability 
particularly when used by motor vehicles.  Previously, the Council has addressed 
the poor condition of the surface by undertaking drainage works to the most 
problematic areas.  To test the durability of the route by certain motor vehicles an 
experimental traffic regulation order has been in place since 3rd October 2016 
prohibiting motor vehicles with 4 wheels or more from driving over the Byway. 
 Usage by motorcycles is not therefore prohibited and use by 4WD vehicles 
associated with the owners or occupiers of the land is excluded from the ETRO via 
permits. The condition has been monitored with 4-6 weekly inspections including 
photos taken at 29 locations to assess the changes in condition.

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



2.4      An ETRO order cannot exceed a period of 18 months and any objections must be 
made within the first 6 months (or if the order is subsequently varied within 6 
months of that change).  With a year's monitoring in place the Council can now 
assess the ETRO and determine its outcome and therefore the route's future 
management.  Within the first 6 months an objection was received by one of the 
landowners requesting that the prohibition should be extended to cover motor 
cycles in order to maintain it in a proper state of repair.  There were also reports 
during this time from another landowner of anti-social motor bike and quad bike use 
in the vicinity of cows and sheep, although not on the Byway itself.  

 
2.6      There were a number of reasons for making the ETRO and which were detailed in 

the Delegated Decision made on behalf of the Corporate Director on 5 August 2016 
which is attached as Document B. The reasons are consistent with those specified 
in Section 1(1) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and include preventing 
damage to the route, avoiding danger for users, ensuring passage along the route 
is facilitated, safeguarding the character of the road and adjoining land and 
safeguarding as much as possible the local amenities.  Only those reasons 
compatible with the legislation can be cited when making a traffic regulation order 
which are largely concerned with the condition of the highway and ensuring its 
usage is sustained conveniently and safely.

 
3.0      Summary of monitoring inspections
 
3.1     The Byway has been monitored over a period of 13 months, starting 3 weeks prior 

to the commencement of the ETRO until October 2017.  Detailed inspection notes 
were taken and a timeline of photos at 29 locations between 9 September 2016 and 
5 October 2017. A summary is shown in Document C.

3.2 Although the condition of the Byway varied depending on the weather conditions 
and any recent obvious usage there are some key observations.  

3.3 There were some changes to the Byway’s surface at different times, however, it has 
overall remained in an acceptable condition for its status as a Byway Open to All 
Traffic and location.

3.4 The Byway’s surface was wettest at the end of the winter, in March 2017, and when 
vegetation cover is at its sparsest.  There was vegetation recovery during the 
summer. 

3.5 The 'weak' points are at 'pinch pints' where culverts are crossed and at gateways.   
The greatest loss of vegetation and most notably tractor damage is seen at the 
North Moor culvert, the 90 Acre culvert crossing and its approaches, and the 
southern end of 90 Acre.  At these locations the tractor damage has persisted with 
the winter wet mushy ruts becoming dry and like concrete in the summer. However 
these are localised issues and not of such concern at this time to render the Byway 
unacceptable for users.  

3.6 The most visible wheel markings are along some of the northern sections with 
tractor and other 4W vehicles rather than 2W. There are stretches where narrow, 
shallower 2W markings are visible up the grass middle area between the 4W ruts.

Page 20



3.7 The southern end of the Byway (Sand Edge southwards) has not undergone any 
notable changes.  Although there are some localised persistent wet areas at the 
Peaty north end of Sand Edge these haven't extended.

3.8 The visible width of usage has largely remained confined to the 'track' width apart 
from the 2 fields with a shorter grass swaythe (at Salters Gate and just south of 90 
Acre but these are well within the specified width of the byway (60' at southern end 
and 40' at northern).

 
4.0 Objections

4.1 Landowner 1 requests that all motor vehicles are prohibited from using the Byway 
to ensure it remains in a useable condition for pedestrians, cyclists and horse 
riders.  He provides photos in Feb 2017 which he states show significant damage 
caused by 2W vehicles.  He also describes 2Ws accessing other areas and causing 
distress to his livestock and that 4WDs are ignoring the ban and accessing the 
Byway from other estate tracks.  Additionally he considers that the damage to the 
Byway creates safety issues for his employees and impacts those using the Byway 
on foot or horseback.

4.2 Response
The monitoring carried out by officers has continued over a 13 month period and 
the photo catalogue built up provides a broader picture than those provided by the 
objector from one date. As described above it is considered that the Council's 
monitoring does not conclude that 2W vehicles have caused damage to an extent 
which is of concern at this time and it is 4W use that has.  Indeed it is considered 
that the objector's photos also support this conclusion.  
The objector describes how 4WD vehicles have accessed the Byway via other 
estate tracks.  Although this is noted it is considered that securing other entrances 
to the land is not within the Council's role.  The locked gates at the start and finish 
points next to public highways have not been unlawfully breached during the period 
of the ETRO.  
The description of the Byway's condition put forward is not consistent with Officers' 
view that it is in an acceptable condition.   
Disturbance to livestock due to accessing other land is regrettable and it is noted 
that during spring 2017 both the owner and the Trail Riders Fellowship erected 
notices at the Salters Gate end of the track alerting riders to the presence of stock 
and encouraging considerate use of the Byway.

4.3 Landowner 2 made 3 separate reports between Nov 2016 and March 2017 about 
motor bikes riding off the route of the Byway and causing upset to pregnant cows 
and sheep, leaving gates open and driving too fast.

4.4 Response
More recent discussions with this objector indicate that a majority of motor bikes do 
ride responsibly, to put some perspective to this complaint.  Further signage, as 
described above can be arranged to promote responsible use of the Byway and if 
issues persist of driving off the Byway then the Police can be informed as driving off 
the Byway onto adjoining land is a criminal offence.  The issues are more of 
management rather than something that the ETRO can deal with as to exclude 
users to prevent unlawful/illegal activity/anti-social behaviour does not fall within the 
statutory grounds for making the ETRO.  

Page 21



5.0      Local Member consultation
 

5.1      Local members Weardale Councillors John Shuttleworth and Anita Savory have 
been consulted but have not made any comment.

 
6.0      Recommendation

6.1 It is considered that the monitoring of the condition of the Byway throughout the 
period of the ETRO indicates that the surface has been able to withstand use by 
2WD vehicles.  Although there have been some changes in the Byway’s condition 
and the weather/seasonal conditions do impact the robustness of the surface, it has 
withstood that usage.

6.2 Usage by 4WD vehicles is still evident, however owner/occupiers of the land are not 
excluded by the prohibition and banning of these users would not be considered 
lawful.  However, the impact of 4WDs during the ETRO period has further 
compounded the view that (apart from the excepted 4WDs described) these 
vehicles should continue to be prohibited due to the poor structure of the sub soil.   

6.4 The Constitution of the Council specifies in Part 3A that the final decision must be 
made by the Corporate Director for Regeneration and Local Services, under 
delegated powers, having regard to guidance from the Committee.

6.5 It is recommended that the Committee:

 Note the objections and recommend to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Development that the ETRO is made permanent.

  
Document A Location plan showing route of Byway
Document B Delegated Decision made on behalf of the Corporate Director on 5 August 
2016
Document C Photos and inspection reports (full documentation in background papers)
Document D Objections

Background Papers

Contents

0 A  pdf Plan showing the photo locations, links, features etc

0 B  pdf Written description of the links, where photos taken from and dates

0 C  pdf Summary of inspection comments 9 Sep 2016 to 5 Oct 2017

Photos 
folder

Labelled 0 – 29 x a, b, c, d …….l
Each number denotes the location and a, b, c, d, etc when the 
photo taken. (note that 0 photos only start at c).  To be used with 
the previous documents which provide info on locations etc

Contact:         Audrey Christie         Tel:     03000 265332
                

Page 22



 Appendix 1:  Implications
 
 
Finance – Costs of the implementation of the scheme will be funded through the Council’s 
Rights of Way revenue budget.  Minimal as most of the costs already incurred at start of 
experiment
 
Staffing – The proposal and its implementation will be managed by the Access and Rights 
of Way Team
 
Risk – There are minimal risks associated with this proposal
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - It is considered that there are no 
Equality and Diversity issues to be addressed.
 
Accommodation – No impact
 
Crime and Disorder – It is not considered that the TRO would have any notable impact 
on crime and disorder although it would create an offence to drive along the byway with a 
motor vehicle or horse drawn vehicle.  The introduction of a permit scheme to identify 
exempt drivers will enable more effective enforcement.  The Police are the enforcement 
agency for driving offences and they have not objected to the proposals.
 
Human Rights – Although the right to drive a motor vehicle or horse drawn vehicle along 
the byway will be prohibited this is a proposal that can be introduced by the Highway 
Authority using primary UK legislation.  It is considered that the proposal would not be a 
breach of human rights.  
 

Consultation – in accordance with SI:2489
 
Procurement – Work to be carried out by Highways Operations
 
Disability Issues – The proposals will prohibit the drivers of all motor vehicles and horse 
drawn vehicles from proceeding along the byway and does not specifically target or 
disproportionately affect disabled drivers.
 
Legal Implications – The proposals have been considered in accordance with the 
legislation described in the report. 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Background papers

Highways Committee – 20 November 2017

Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane)

Contents

0 A  pdf Plan showing the photo locations, links, features etc

0 B  pdf Written description of the links, where photos taken from and 
dates

0 C  pdf Summary of inspection comments 9 Sep 2016 to 5 Oct 2017

Photos 
folder

Labelled 0 – 29 x a, b, c, d …….l
Each number denotes the location and a, b, c, d, etc when the 
photo taken. (note that 0 photos only start at c).  To be used with 
the previous documents which provide info on locations etc

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



v
v

v
v

v v v
v

v v

^
^

^
^

^^ ^
^

^^

^

vv

^

^^

56

60

61

71

41

5

42

59

5485

43

157

62

63

72

82

53

83

44

5584

39

47

79

4987

29

74

48 3678 31

43

5

49

63

55

15
7

44

59
157

42

60

55

41

59

56
71

6115
7

60

55

41

59

15
7

44

71

4447© C rown Cop yright  and datab ase right  2016 . Ord nance  Survey LA  100 0490 55

N

IAN THOMPSON
CORPORATE DIRECTOR
REGENERATION AND 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
COUNTY HALL
DURHAM DH1 5UQ

Wolsingham Byway 
No. 157

Experimental Traffic 
RegulationOrder

Prohibition of motor 
vehicles with 4 wheels 

or more

Scale: 1:15,000

Public Rights of Way / Highways 
not affected by the proposal

Footpath
Bridleway

23 August 2016
Postcode: DL13 4JP (North)
                 DL13 3HG (South)

Salters Gate

Wolsingham

v v^ ^ ^ Byway

UNC 25.5

Byway subject to the
Traffic Regulation Order

This t lewo od Lane

A68

VI

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Doocument C 
 

Wolsingham Byway 157  

Summary of inspections including photos during 
period of Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
Sep 2016 to Oct 2017 
 
Dates of inspections 
 
2016 – 9 Sep, 3 Oct, 31 Oct, 2 Dec 
2017 – 4 Jan, 1 Feb, 14 Mar, 5 May, 15 June, 21 Aug, 5 Oct 
 

 
Description of links including features 
 

   Set of 
photos 
below 

Link 1 Gate 1 at Salters Gate crossing rough 
pasture to gate 2 

 1 

Link 2 Gate 2 across rough pasture /edge of 
North Moor to gate 3 

Culvert #1 2 

Link 3 Gate 3 ‘railway gate’ to gate 4, stone 
track and grassy track 

 3 

Link 4 Gate 4 across rough pasture to gate 5 
at northern entry to 90 Acre 

Culvert #2 4 

Link 5 Gate 5 descending along edge of 90 
Acre rough pasture to Culvert #3 

Culvert #3 5 

Link 6 Southern end of 90 Acre ascending 
from Culvert #3 to gate 6 

Culvert #3 6 

Link 7 Gate 6 to gate 7 across grass field to 
Sand Edge start 

  

Link 8 Gate 7 at entry into Sand Edge 
moorland to exit at gate 8 

 7, 8 

Link 9 Gate 8 Rough grazing south of Sand 
Edge to gate 9 

  

Link 10 Gate 9 to gate 10 Rough grazing at 
Thistlewood Lane end 

  

 

 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

 

 

  

Page 48



1. Start of Link 1 at Salters Gate – just inside gate 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 

5 May 2017 

2 Dec 2016 15 June 2017 

4 Jan 2017 22 Aug 2017 

14 Mar 2017 5 Oct 2017 

Page 49



2. Start of Link 2 at Gate 2 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 50



3. Link 3 - Turn between Gate 3 and Gate 4 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 51



4. Link 4 – just after Gate 4 looking south 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 52



5. Link 5 - Descending to 90 Acre culvert 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 53



6. Link 6 – Ascent going south from 90 Acre culvert 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 54



7. Link 8 – just south of Gate 7 on Sand Edge Common 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 55



8. Link 8 – along Sand Edge Common 
 

3 Oct 2016 
 

5 May 2017 
 

2 Dec 2016 
 

15 June 2017 
 

4 Jan 2017 
 

22 Aug 2017 
 

14 Mar 2017 
 

5 Oct 2017 
 

 

Page 56



Summary of monitoring inspections 
 

PROW 
officer/s 

Date Summary Notes 

Audrey 
Christie 
& Nick 
Howell 

09 Sep 2016 Route overall dry and compact surface.  Minimal standing 
water other than on top moorland near culvert and on 
Sand Edge (northern end) where surface is the most 
rutted of whole route.  Summer flush of grass growth still 
evident on the non surfaced bits of the byway. 

Nick 03 Oct 2016 Byway remains dry overall with a good compact surface. 
Standing water found in only the few deepest of pre-
existing wheel ruts (northern end of Sand Edge & culvert 
#2). Good grass growth still present along non-surfaced 
sections of byway although there are bare areas which 
remain un-vegetated since the DCC drainage works. 
Little or no evidence of motor vehicle use along the 
byway with the exception being some tractor imprints at 
culverts #1 and #2 and the lead up to the Thistlewood 
Lane gateway. DCC Technical Services staff were on site 
completing the works to install the bridlegates and 
signage.  

Nick 31 Oct 2016 Numerous areas/pockets of standing water with various 
areas of surface becoming soft, muddy and sticky 
underfoot. Obvious use of the byway by two wheel 
motorbikes identified through the linear tyre marks. This 
use ranges from a simple flattening of grass where 
drainage and sward look generally good, to more defined 
imprints in the surface, through to those imprints 
deepening to into ruts with surface break-up and obvious 
ground disturbance. 90 Acre allotment and Salters Gate 
gateway show the greatest negative change in surface 
condition. Noted horseshoe and mountain bike tyre 
imprints. 4 wheel traffic / agricultural vehicles use only 
evident through Links 9 and 10 presumably the Baal Hill 
Farm-related. 

Audrey 02 Dec 2016 Walking, the worst section of byway to was the southerly 
stretch south of Sand Edge Moor to Thistlewood Lane.  
Mainly due to both agricultural vehicles (tractor and trailer 
marks evident) and some poaching by cattle around the 
verges (I was using these to bypass the muddy main 
track).  The 90 Acre culvert area has otherwise 
deteriorated most with more mud less grass and plenty of 
evidence of motorbike usage.  The southern high point of 
90 Acre where rushes growing also starting to show 
rutting – the rushes tendingeto dictate where rideable 
within the width.   The top moor culvert area is also 
muddier with some standing wet areas.  There is some 
evidence of horse and mountain bike usage but minimal.  
Condition has deteriorated since my last visit on 9 Sep. 

Page 57



Nick 04 Jan 2017 Ground overall is soft, muddy and very sticky in many 
places. Waterlogging and standing water most with layer 
of ice found all along the byway. Strong evidence of two 
wheel motorbikes identifiable through the linear ruts. 
Worst sections for disturbance are Salters Gate gate#1 
and first 30m of the Link #1, northern approach to culvert 
#1, multiple areas on 90 Acre allotment in particular 
southern side of gate #5, slopes down and up from 
culvert #3, and the rushes. Quad bike use along Link#4 
and Link#5 includes riding off byway onto wide moor 
presumably gamekeeper related. Links #9 and 10 is 
cattle poached and evidence of tractor with trailer 
movements.  

Audrey 1 Feb 2017 Worst section remains to the south of Sand Edge due to 
agricultural movements.  Key weak spots remain 
including the culvert at 90 Acre and its approaches, the 
marshy (rush) section at the southern end of 90 acre and 
the culvert on the top moor.  Other stretches also with 
particularly deteriorating surface include the initial section 
at Salters Gate, after gate 4 and most of 90 Acre.  
Minimal evidence of horse and mountain bike, some 
pedestrian but largely 4W vehicular damage to surface 
the factor impacting the path’s surface. 2W use evident 
but less obviously damaging.  As a pedestrian a bit of a 
trudge. 

Nick 14 Mar 2017 Worst section is now Link#2, particularly the approach to 
culvert #1 where the now liquefied surface is a quagmire 
due to tractor movements. Key weak spots are gate #1 
gateway, culverts #2 and #3 as well the start of Link #5 
after gate #5 and the rushes at the southern end of Link 
#6.  Standing water remains the same but ground is 
looking drier in many places including the south end of 
Sandedge through Links #9 and #10. Evidence of all 
users expect boot prints. Tractor, quad and motorbike 
damage the factor impacting the path’s surface.  

Audrey 05 May 2017 Whole route dried out considerably since previous 
inspections following a prolonged warmer period of little 
or no rain.  The most churned up and uneven sections 
around culvert #1(link #2), descent to bottom of 90 Acre 
northside (to culvert # 3 on link #5), rushes section at 
south end of 90 acre (end of link #6) and the 
longstanding deep ruts at start of link#8 Sand Edge.  The 
southern end which had a film of mud during the winter is 
completely dried out and mainly level ‘cos of 
stones/bricks on surface.  Easiest to walk since the 
autumn. 

Audrey 15 June 2017 Whole route still dry although ground a little damper than 
previous inspection following 2-3 weeks of sporadic rain.  
Area has greened up with summer growth. The most 
churned up and uneven sections around culvert #1(link 

Page 58



#2) has standing water again, descent to bottom of 90 
Acre northside (to culvert # 3 on link #5) still bare with 4W 
rutting and 2W imprints, rushes section at south end of 
90 acre (end of link #6) and the longstanding deep ruts at 
start of link#8 at Sand Edge. Still standing water in 2 of 
the 3 depressions here. The southern end remains dried 
out and mainly level. 

Audrey 22 Aug 2017 Whole route has further greened up although the ground 
softer than May and June inspections due to more rainfall 
including drizzle/fog at the start of the inspection.  
Minimal change throughout.  Culvert #1 and its approach 
is still solidly 4WD rutted and damp with some standing 
water, as is the approach to 90 Acre culvert #3, the 
rushes at the south end of 90 Acre.   Motor bike imprints 
not avoiding these areas quite so much as during the 
winter when wetter.   

Audrey 5 Oct 2017 Ground damper again as the weather has become colder 
and with an average amount of rain for time of year.  
Culverts crossings continue to be the most damaged 
areas especially the top moor culvert #1 with multiple 
parallel ruts on its approaches with standing water and 
the 90 Acre #3 which is more clayey/slippery with multiple 
depressions.  Top of 90 Acre rushes area deep ruts still 
with standing water.  More ‘middle’ rut developing 
(between the 4WD ruts) in 90 Acre and before culvert #1.  
The southern end from Sand Edge southwards seems to 
be little changed and appears more robust with the more 
sandy surface on the moor and the farmland stretch 
being stone/brick surface.  The tractor trailer movements 
over the winter are evident again but surface seems 
robust here.   

 
 
 
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 61

Audrey.Christie
Text Box
Document DObjections to Experimental Traffic Regulation Order

Audrey.Christie_1
Text Box
Landowner 1Representations made in first 6 months of ETRO



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Landowner 2

Representations made during first 6 months of Experimental TRO

Page 94


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 24 July 2017
	5 C10a Leadgate Road, Leadgate - 40mph Speed Limit - Report of Corporate Director, Regeneration and Local Services
	6 Wolsingham Byway 157 (Hexham Lane) - Objection to Experimental Traffic Regulation Order to prohibit 4WD vehicles - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	Background papers Contents sheet
	A Plan of Byway ETRO
	B Delegated approval to make ETRO Head of Transport
	C Inspection reports, photos
	D objections
	D Landowner 1.pdf (p.1-33)
	502643 - Letter from Bond Dickinson dated 15.02.17.pdf (p.1-2)
	1.pdf (p.3-12)
	2.pdf (p.13-22)
	3.pdf (p.23-33)

	D Landowner 2.pdf (p.34)





